THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

APPEAL FROM HORRY COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable Benjamin H. Culbertson, Circuit Court Judge
Case No. 2020-CP-26-00785

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2021-001074

ANI CREATION, INC. d/b/a Rasta; ANI CREATION, INC. d/b/a Wacky T's;
BLUE SMOKE, LLC d/b/a Doctor Vape; BLUE SMOKE, LLC d/b/a Blue Smoke
Vape Shop; ABNME, LLC d/b/a Best for Less; KORETZKY, LLC d/b/a Grasshopper;
RED HOT SHOPPE, INC.; E.T. SPORTSWEAR, INC. d/b/a Pacific Beachwear;
MYRTLE BEACH GENERAL STORE, LLC; I AM IT, INC. d/b/a T-Shirt King;
and BLUE BAY RETAIL, INC. d/b/a Surf's Up, Petitioners,

Appellants

vs.

CITY OF MYRTLE BEACH BOARD OF ZONING APPEALS and KEN MAY,

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN AFFIRMING THE DECISION OF THE BOARD OF ZONING APPEALS FOR THE CITY OF MYRTLE BEACH?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Appellants are retail stores which operate in the City of Myrtle Beach on Ocean Boulevard between Sixteenth Avenue North and Sixth Avenue South. The Appellants sell a variety of goods including cigarettes, pipes, CBD oil, t-shirts and other souvenir and novelty items, food and general grocery items. The Appellants and their predecessors in business have been selling these same types of merchandise for over thirty years and all have current City business licenses.

On August 14, 2018, the City of Myrtle Beach adopted Ordinance 2017-23: Ordinance to Amend Appendix A, Zoning, by Enacting Article 18, Section 1806 to Enact and Establish the Ocean Boulevard Entertainment Overlay District (OBEOD), to Establish a Family Friendly Entertainment and Retail Land Use. The ordinance was first presented on May 2, 2017, continued first reading was on May 9, 2017 (R. p. 533), and continued on May 23, 2017 and June 13, 2017. A second reading of an entirely different version of the ordinance was finally presented and approved by City Council on August 14, 2018.¹ (R. p. 537).

The 2018 OBEOD Ordinance (2017-23) provides in Section 1. "Purpose and Intent" the reasons for enacting the ordinance. Specifically Section 1.A. stated, "Without debate, the City's economic engine is tourism." The ordinance further has the following relevant sections:

Section 1.C. Tourism is threatened by perceived unseemliness or unsafety in any particular area.

¹ By agreement of the parties, the first reading of the Ordinance and the signed copy of the Ordinance by Mayor Pro Tem Brenda Bethune is added to the record. (R. p. 537).

Section 1.D. The perception of unseemliness or unsafety is, to large degree, a product of atmosphere.

Section 1.F. One component of atmosphere for a location is the proliferation of retail offerings of businesses in that area, that are not family attractive.

Section 1.H. The purpose of the Ocean Boulevard Entertainment Overlay District (OBEOD) is to establish a family friendly entertainment and retail land use, and encourage compatible land uses, and ensure higher quality development and business uses and function in order to protect property values and provide safe and efficient pedestrian and automobile access.

Section 1.J. The displacement of CBD consumables, smoke shops and tobacco stores is necessary and in the interests of the public health, safety and general welfare because there is the substantial likelihood of the establishment and operation of expanded retail offerings of CBD consumables, smoke shops and tobacco stores in the OBEOD.

Other parts of Section 1806 reference the sale of illegal drug paraphernalia and the heightened risk of negative aesthetic impacts, blight and loss of property values of residential neighborhoods and businesses in close proximity (1.L). Finally, in Section 1.P. of Section 1806, City Council is “determined to see a ‘family friendly lens’ placed over all policies, strategies and initiatives undertaken and supported by the Council.”²

As a result of the enactment of the OBEOD, the City of Myrtle Beach overnight changed what legal consumer products could be sold in the OBEOD from Sixth Avenue South to Sixteenth Avenue North. Appellants own shops and businesses in this area and have been selling the now banned products for over 30 years prior to the enactment of Section 1806. The now banned products included the sale of cigarettes which are more than 10% of their retail offering, the sale of tobacco paraphernalia, the sale of pipes, the sale of e-cigarettes, the sale of CBD oil, the sale of vapor products, the sale of sexually oriented merchandise (such as t-shirts and novelty items) to include the retail merchandising of tobacco or tobacco products of more than an incidental nature.

² While the Ordinance is referenced as Section 1806 and Section 1807 in the record, the language is identical. The terms “family friendly” and “family attractive” are not defined in the Ordinance.

Section 1806 also provided that any nonconformity in these retail stores must cease no later than December 31, 2018. (See Section 4. Amortization. Retail stores offering space for the prohibited retail business uses that are operating on the effective date of the ordinance codified in this overlay are hereby declared immediately nonconforming as of the date of second reading³ and shall be amortized as to the nonconformity and must cease the nonconforming portion of the retail offerings no later than December 31, 2018). The Ordinance was signed by the Mayor Pro Tem of Myrtle Beach on August 14, 2018 which gave the affected businesses a little more than four months to comply.

Immediately after this ordinance was passed, the Appellants who had retail businesses in the OBEOD filed suit in the United States District Court, Florence Division, South Carolina. The Appellants in the United States District Court asked for a temporary restraining order restraining the City of Myrtle Beach from enacting Section 1806 which provided for both civil and criminal penalties. A telephone hearing was held before United States District Court Judge, R. Bryan Harwell, and a consent order was entered January 15, 2019 staying prosecution of any violations of the ordinance pending these proceedings. (R. p. 65).

The Appellants had a hearing pursuant to South Carolina law before the City of Myrtle Beach Board of Zoning Appeals on October 10, 2019. A second order from United States District Court Judge Sheri Lydon on August 17, 2020 ordered Appellants to exercise their state law remedies. (R. p. 46).

After a hearing, the City of Myrtle Beach Board of Zoning Appeals issued its order denying Appellants relief on January 16, 2020. The City of Myrtle Beach Board of Zoning Appeals upheld

³ The Ordinance was signed August 14, 2018 and all of the consumer products on the list were immediately declared illegal (R. p. 537).

Section 1807 and found in its order that it could not decide the issue of whether the ordinance was constitutional. (R p. 39).

This matter thereafter came before the circuit court on appeal on March 1, 2021. The circuit court affirmed the City of Myrtle Beach Board of Zoning Appeals decision on April 22, 2021. (R. p. 15). Appellants then moved for reconsideration and the circuit court issued an order denying Appellants' motion to reconsider on September 16, 2021. (R. p. 1). Appellants appealed this matter directly to this Court based on SCAR 203(d)(1)(A)(ii).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The standard of review of an appeal from a City or County Board of Zoning Appeals is set forth in *Restaurant Row Assoc. v. Horry County*, 335 S.C. 209, 216, 516 S.E.2d 442, 446 (1999). In that case, this Court stated:

In reviewing the questions presented by the appeal, the court shall determine only whether the decision of the board is correct as a matter of law. Furthermore, a court will refrain from substituting its judgment for that of the reviewing body even if it disagrees with the decision.

A corollary principle of the standard of review is that a decision of a municipal zoning board will be overturned if it is arbitrary, capricious and has no reasonable relation to the lawful purpose, or the board has abused its discretion. See *Williams v. Lexington County Board of Zoning Appeals*, 413 S.C. 647, 652, 776 S.E.2d 749 (Ct. App. 2015). See also, *Beachfront Entertainment v. Town of Sullivans Island*, 379 S.C. 602, 666 S.E.2d 912 (2008). In sum, this Court must decide two issues on ordinance validity. First, did local government have the power? Second, is the ordinance consistent with the Constitution and the general laws of this state? *Aakjer v. City of Myrtle Beach*, 388 S.C. 129, 694 S.E.2d 213 (2010). In this case, the OBEOD ordinance fails this test set forth by this Court.

ARGUMENT

I. THE OCEAN BOULEVARD ENTERTAINMENT OVERLAY DISTRICT (OBEOD) IS ARBITRARY AND CAPRICIOUS AS A MATTER OF LAW.

Appellants' retail stores are located in the OBEOD in Myrtle Beach, South Carolina. The OBEOD outlaws as of December 31, 2018 various legal consumer products which the Appellants sell. Appellants are a collection of beachwear shops and variety stores which sell t-shirts, beachwear, cigarettes, CBD oil, e-cigarettes, pipes, novelty items, alternative nicotine delivery products and other tobacco products in their stores in downtown Myrtle Beach. Appellants have sold those products for thirty plus years prior to the City of Myrtle Beach enacting Municipal Ordinance Section 1806 which established a new zoning district (OBEOD) and prohibited the sale of the consumer products which Appellants sell in their stores.

The OBEOD is a narrow oceanfront area of Myrtle Beach from Sixteenth Avenue North to Sixth Avenue South and is approximately two blocks wide. The OBEOD does not reach U.S. Highway Business 17 and the boundary lines are irregular and zigzag in an illogical and confusing manner. In some areas of the OBEOD the boundary lines go inland toward U.S. Highway 17 and in other areas hug the Boulevard. A map of the OBEOD is found in the record. (R. pp. 341, 469, 542).

This case began when zoning inspectors from the City of Myrtle Beach issued a series of zoning ordinance violations pursuant to Section 1806 of the OBEOD ordinance against each of the individually named Appellants for the sale of the consumer products as referenced above. The letters sent certified to the Appellants list both criminal and civil penalties. (R, pp. 556-621). The zoning ordinance violation letters were served in June 2019 and Appellants demanded a hearing before the Myrtle Beach Board of Zoning Appeals. (R. p. 473).

The OBEOD is an irrationally shaped district in downtown Myrtle Beach and many of Appellants' competitors operate their retail businesses either directly across the street from the

Appellants or immediately adjacent to the OBEOD. As an example, owning a smoke shop on Seventeenth Avenue North in Myrtle Beach is legal while owning a smoke shop directly across the street on Sixteenth Avenue North is not legal. Selling e-cigarettes, pipes or CBD oil is illegal on Sixth Avenue South in Myrtle Beach while selling those same products is legal across the street on Seventh Avenue South in Myrtle Beach.⁴ In fact, some of the retail stores share a common parking lot and on one side of the lot the consumer products are banned while on the other side they are legal. The result is that certain retail stores are favored by the ordinance since they sell the same consumer products which Appellants cannot sell in their stores.

The deposition of Ken May, the Zoning Administrator, revealed that there is no rhyme or reason as to how the OBEOD boundary lines were drawn by City Council. In his deposition May was asked the following questions:

Q. Who actually drew the lines?

A. The DRC was actually formed probably 25 years ago, so I don't know exactly who drew those lines. But I would have to assume that it would have been the Council that was sitting at the time for the City of Myrtle Beach.

(R. p. 155, lines 1-20).

In another part of the deposition, May was asked:

Q. Do you know what data City Council relied upon in deciding not to allow certain products and services to be sold in the Overlay District?

A. Again, you are going to have to refer to the minutes.

(R. p. 157, line 25; R. p. 158, lines 1-5)

⁴ These consumer products are legal everywhere in South Carolina except in the OBEOD of Myrtle Beach.

May was also asked:

Q. Do you know of any data that was relied upon in the City Council's decision not to sell certain products and services in the overlay area?

A. I am not sure I really understand the question on that, so I do not recall.

(R. p. 158).

In another portion of the deposition, May was asked about the consumer products being sold in the OBEOD.

Q. And do you know why it is that certain products can't be sold in the overlay district, but they can be sold on the next street over?

A. I mean, I hate to give you this answer, but I don't want to speak for city council. Again, you're going to have to refer to the minutes.

(R. p. 159, lines 6-13).

Thus, the City of Myrtle Beach in enacting Ordinance 1806 and the OBEOD, provides no rationale as to how the OBEOD boundary lines were shaped nor can the City Zoning Administrator or its Zoning Department explain why the exclusive area between Sixth Avenue South and Sixteenth Avenue North was chosen so that only businesses in those areas could not sell certain consumer products such as cigarettes, CBD oil, novelty items while other merchants were free to sell those same products throughout the City and immediately adjacent to the OBEOD without fear of civil or criminal penalties.

Also, when the Board of Zoning hearing was held, no witness testified as to the intent or reasons City Council approved the OBEOD ordinance. (R. pp. 39-45). Furthermore, no data was presented by the City as to why the OBEOD was enacted in the area where Appellants' businesses are located. (R. pp. 39-45). In contrast, Appellants presented an affidavit of a former member of the Myrtle Beach Planning Commission. (R. 470). In that affidavit, Carl Sivertsen, who was a member of the Planning Commission stated:

A citywide ban of these products was discussed by the Planning Commission and felt to be the only fair method for all merchants in the city. I, along with other Planning Commission members could not understand why other areas of the city could sell the same products that are being banned in the ordinance. As an example, the products which are currently banned are being sold at Broadway at the Beach and at the Mall of South Carolina, specifically, Spencer's Gifts, could sell the same products that are banned on the Boulevard.

(Affidavit of Sivertsen, R. p. 471).

Sivertsen also expressed concern in his affidavit as to how these products were going to be banned from sale over a short period of time when the merchants had those products on the shelves in their stores. (R. p. 471).

Sivertsen's affidavit along with the testimony of May establishes the OBEOD enforcement, boundary lines, and reasons for the district are arbitrary and capricious. In *City of Myrtle Beach v. Juel P Corp.*, 337 S.C. 157, 172, 522 S.E.2d 153 (Ct. App. 1999) the Court of Appeals held: "The determination of whether zoning ordinances deprive a person of constitutional rights is a judicial and not a legislative function and where an ordinance is clearly violative of constitutional rights it is the duty of the court to so hold." See also *Town of Scranton v. Willoughby*, 306 S.C. 421, 412 S.E.2d 424 (1991) (arbitrary and capricious zoning ordinances are unconstitutional as a matter of law.)

Here, the OBEOD Ordinance which bans consumer products sold citywide is arbitrary as a matter of law. Those same products are freely sold at gas stations, stores, pharmacies, beachwear shops, Wal-Mart, the Mall of South Carolina and all over the city. (See R. pp. 371-453). Appellants assert that if the City of Myrtle Beach wanted to be fair to all merchants, it would ban those products including alcohol citywide versus banning them in such a small area.

II. THE OCEAN BOULEVARD ENTERTAINMENT OVERLAY DISTRICT (OBEOD) IS UNCONSTITUTIONAL

As has been stated above, the OBEOD Ordinance (Section 1806) only applies to a small number of retail businesses who own properties between Sixth Avenue South and Sixteenth Avenue North in Myrtle Beach. It is a narrow, irregularly shaped area which runs along Ocean Boulevard and has a width of about one or two blocks. Appellants produced a plethora of evidence of the sale of the same products that are prohibited in the OBEOD. The evidence included photographs which show the banned products being sold in various locations throughout the City. (See Exhibits 7a-7f). (R. pp. 371-453).

The photographic evidence shows that these same products prohibited in the OBEOD are sold in almost every store, pharmacy, grocery store and variety store in the City of Myrtle Beach. Appellants have consistently argued that if the purpose of the ordinance is to make the City of Myrtle Beach family friendly or family attractive, the only solution would be to ban these products citywide. Further, the City's OBEOD boundary lines are irrational since some merchants sell those products directly across the street from the District while some of Appellants' businesses are just inside the OBEOD line and are unable to sell the same products. Appellants' competition sells the same products within feet of where Appellants cannot sell those products. Thus, Section 1806 unlawfully discriminates against Appellants without a rational basis. See *Town of Scranton v. Willoughby*, 306 S.C. 421, 412 S.E.2d 424 (1991), (An arbitrary and capricious zoning ordinance is unconstitutional as a matter of law.)

III. THE OCEAN BOULEVARD ENTERTAINMENT OVERLAY DISTRICT (OBEOD) IS A TAKING OF APPELLANTS' PROPERTY.

The Appellants have operated their small beachwear stores in the OBEOD for over 30 years and prior to the outlawing and/or banning of the products they sold, Appellants sold those consumer

products without complaint by the City. Section 1806 banned those products and criminalized their conduct effective December 31, 2018. After December 31, 2018, Appellants were either subject to arrest or to the loss of their business license if they sold the consumer products.

The Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution provides in part:

“No State shall deprive any person of life, liberty or property, without due process of law; nor deny to any person within its jurisdiction the equal protection of the laws.” (U.S. Const. amend. XIV, § 1).

This clause is the source of Appellants’ challenge to the governmental taking of their businesses by the City.

The Equal Protection Clause also prohibits discrimination against a person or entity for belonging to a particular group.⁵ In an Equal Protection challenge this Court first determines whether the government has adopted a classification that affects two or more similarly situated groups in an unequal manner. See *Doe v. South Carolina*, 421 S.C. 490, 808 S.E.2d 807 (2017). See *Safeway v. City and County of San Francisco*, 797 F. Supp. 2d 964, 971-973 (N.D. Cal.). If so, the Court then considers whether the classification furthers a legitimate government interest. When the law classifies individuals or groups for an economic regulation the classification must be a reasonable one and further a governmental interest. Here, the City has no legitimate government interest when the same products are sold within feet of a business which cannot sell those products.

In the case of *Walgreen Co. v. City and County of San Francisco*, 185 Cal. App. 4th 424, 419-436, 498 (Cal. Ct. App. 2010), the California Court of Appeals considered whether the trial court properly dismissed an equal protection challenge to a San Francisco law prohibiting certain pharmacies from obtaining licenses to sell tobacco products. The ordinance prohibited standalone pharmacies from obtaining licenses to sell tobacco but not grocery stores or big box stores containing

⁵ The South Carolina Constitution has essentially the same language.

licensed pharmacies. The Court found the law treated the two categories of pharmacies differently. The Court found no basis for the differential treatment and returned the case to the trial court for further proceedings. (There is no rational basis to believe the supposed implied message conveyed by selling tobacco products at a Walgreens that has a licensed pharmacy in the back of a store is different in any meaningful way from the implied message conveyed by selling such products at a supermarket or big box store that contains a licensed pharmacy.)

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