THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

RECEIVED

May 11 2022

APPEAL FROM Horry County
Court of Common Pleas

S.C. SUPREME COURT

The Honorable Benjamin H. Culbertson, Circuit Court
Judge

CASE NO. 2020-CP-26-00785
APPELLATE CASE NO. 2021-
001074

ANI CREATION, INC. d/b/a Rasta; ANI CREATION, INC d/b/a Wacky T's;
BLUE SMOKE, LLC d/b/a Doctor Vape; BLUE SMOKE, LLC d/b/a Blue Smoke
Vape Shop; ABNME, LLC d/b/a Best for Less; KORETZKY, LLC d/b/a
Grasshopper; RED HOT SHOPPE, INC.; E.T. SPORTSWEAR, INC. d/b/a
Pacific Beachwear; MYRTLE BEACH GENERAL STORE, LLC; I AM IT,
INC. d/b/a T-Shirt King; and BLUE BAY RETAIL, INC. d/b/a Surfs Up,

Appellants

vs.

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

ARGUMENTS

I. THE CIRCUIT COURT JUDGE DID NOT ERR IN AFFIRMING THE DECISION OF THE BOARD OF ZONING APPEALS FOR THE CITY OF MYRTLE BEACH.

A. STANDARD OF REVIEW

A municipal ordinance is a legislative enactment and it is presumed to be constitutional.” *Town of Scranton v. Willoughby*, 306 S.C. 421, 422, 412 S.E.2d 424, 425 (1992). “[E]very presumption will be made in favor of the constitutionality of a legislative enactment; and a statute will be declared unconstitutional only when its invalidity appears so clearly as to leave no room for reasonable doubt that it violates some provision of the Constitution. *McMaster v. Columbia Bd. of Zoning Appeals*, 395 S.C. 499, 504–05, 719 S.E.2d 660, 662–63 (2011) The burden of proving the invalidity of a zoning ordinance is on the party attacking it, and it is incumbent on the attacking party to show the arbitrary and capricious character of the ordinance through clear and convincing evidence. *Bibco Corp. v. City of Sumter*, 332 S.C. 45, 52, 504 S.E.2d 112, 116 (1998).

In the present appeal, the Court is asked to review zoning choices made by the City Council of Myrtle Beach. Zoning is a legislative act which will not be interfered with by the courts unless there is a clear violation of citizen's constitutional rights. In order to successfully assault a city's zoning decision, a citizen must establish that the decision was arbitrary and unreasonable. *Byrd, et al. v. City of North Augusta*, 261 S.C.

591, 201 S.E.2d 744 (1974). Courts have no prerogative to pass upon the wisdom of the municipality's decision unless such decision is “so unreasonable as to impair or destroy citizen's constitutional rights.” *Hampton v. Richland County*, 292 S.C. at 503, 357 S.E.2d at 465 (Ct.App.1987) and the decision should not be overturned by a court so long as the decision is “fairly debatable.” *Knowles v. City of Aiken*, 305 S.C. 219, 223, 407 S.E.2d 639, 642 (1991).

While the Appellants here and some other residents of the area may not embrace the City’s OBEOD choice of zoning uses, other residents in close proximity may applaud the OBEOD ordinance. While the Appellants may not agree and may be able to convince this Court not to agree with the City's zoning choices, that is not the issue before the Court. The Court does not insinuate its judgment into a review of the City's decision. Rather, the Court must leave the City's decision undisturbed if the propriety of that decision is even “fairly debatable.” *Rushing v. City of Greenville*, 265 S.C. 285, 288, 217 S.E.2d 797, 799 (1975); *Hampton*, 292 S.C. at 503.

B. The OBEOD ordinance is constitutional and the OBEOD is rationally shaped to serve the City’s purpose of establishing a family friendly entertainment and retail land use district.

The boundaries of the OBEOD are approximately the same as the boundaries of the area overseen by the Downtown Redevelopment Corporation (DRC). [R154] The DRC was actually formed probably 25 years ago. It is an action agent for development in the downtown area of Myrtle Beach and assigned various responsibilities in the City’s 2011 Comprehensive Plan. [R155] As shown on the map above the OBEOD is bounded on the east by the Atlantic Ocean, on the west by lots fronting on U.S. Highway 17

(Kings Highway), on the south by 6th Avenue South and on the north by 16th Avenue North.

The City's intent in the creating the OBEOD is to restore the family friendly image of its downtown area to attract more family friendly tourists. *§1807 Section 1(H), Purpose and Intent*. In the City's 2011 Comprehensive Plan, part of the City's adopted tourism objectives and strategies were to continue to revitalize the downtown area and to continue to define and to maintain Myrtle Beach as a family beach. [RVol II 543-555]

The Zoning Administrator gave the following testimony about the OBED in his deposition:

Q. Now, in this particular area, without going into why council did what it did, is this an area that is primarily trafficked by pedestrians?

A. Yes, sir, without a doubt.

Q. And is it also an area that contains a lot of amusement features that are designed to attract families and children?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Okay. And if you were -- has it historically been that way?

A. Yes, sir. I've been coming down here since I was three years old, and it's always been that way.

Q. And is the -- I think it is Magic Kingdom, is that a family amusement park?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. And before the pavilion was removed, was it also a family amusement park?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. And do you have parking facilities, specifically, like a garage there that allows people to park and then walk along this area?

A. Yes, sir. We have the garage and then multiple paved parking lots in and around the area.

Q. And that's so pedestrians can get out and walk around the district?

A. Yes, sir. [R201-202]

In recent years, a number of beachwear stores in the OBEOD have begun to display and to sell drug paraphernalia, CBD consumables, and sexually oriented merchandise. §1807, Section 1. Purpose and Intent. [VOLII R556-600] City Council found that there is a substantial likelihood of the expanded establishment and operation of such businesses. [RVol II 601-602] In addition, the continued operation and expansion of these family adverse retail offerings in the overlay district would result in undesirable impacts to the public welfare. Among these impacts are increased potential for CBD consumables and tobacco sales to minors, greater opportunity for the sale of illegal drug paraphernalia that is marketed as tobacco paraphernalia, and heightened risk of negative aesthetic impacts, blight, and loss of property values of residential neighborhoods and businesses in close proximity to such uses. §1807, Section 1. Purpose and Intent. [R Vol II 601- 602]

Appellants claim the City has no rhyme or reason for the enactment of the OBEOD ordinance. The City disagrees. The best evidence of City Council's reasons for creating the OBEOD is in the text of the ordinance. *Knotts v. S.C. Dep't of Natural Res.*, 348 S.C. 1, 10, 558 S.E.2d 511, 516 (2002) ("What a legislature says in the text of a statute is considered the best evidence of the legislative intent or will."); *City of Myrtle Beach v. Juel P. Corp.*, 344 S.C. 43, 47, 543 S.E.2d 538, 540 (2001).

Appellants claim the City failed to call witnesses to prove the validity of the ordinance. The City disputes Appellants' claim that City offered no evidence to prove the validity of the ordinance. The City's evidence is in the text of the ordinance and the

Zoning Administrator's presentation. [R245, RVol II 556-600] In addition, the OBEOD ordinance is a municipal ordinance and a legislative enactment. It is presumed to be constitutional. *Town of Scranton v. Willoughby*, 306 S.C. 421, 422, 412 S.E.2d 424, 425 (1992). Appellants bear a heavy burden of proof to show that the OBEOD ordinance is unconstitutional. The burden of proving the invalidity of a zoning ordinance is on the party attacking it, and it is incumbent on the attacking party to show the arbitrary and capricious character of the ordinance through clear and convincing evidence. *Bibco Corp. v. City of Sumter*, 332 S.C. 45, 52, 504 S.E.2d 112, 116 (1998). Appellants did not proffer any expert testimony and their witness's evidence on that point is subjective speculation. Appellants have not satisfied their burden of proof. [R220-316]

Appellants claim the OBEOD ordinance is arbitrary as a matter of law because the ordinance restricts uses in the OBEOD which are permitted in other nearby areas of the City. The City contends restricting property uses is the foundation of zoning law. *Vill. of Euclid, Ohio v. Ambler Realty Co.*, 272 U.S. 365, 47 S. Ct. 114, 71 L. Ed. 303 (1926). The Circuit Court Judge rejected Appellants' claim that different treatment of similar uses in different zones is unconstitutional. He found all zones must have beginning and terminating points. He found that if the existence of divergent uses across zone boundary lines were taken per se as an appropriate basis for a constitutional violation, the entire zone plan in any municipality might well crumble by chain reaction. [R1, R15] See *Scaduto v. Town of Bloomfield*, 127 N.J.L. 1, 4, 20 A.2d 649 (N.J. Sup. Ct. 1941); *Rexon v. Board of Adjustment of Borough of Haddonfield*, 10 N.J. 1, 9, 89 A.2d 233 (1952); *Ward v. Scott*, 11 N.J. 117, 128, 93 A.2d 385 (1952). *Izenberg v. Board of Adjustment of City of Paterson*, 35 N.J. Super. 583, 114 A.2d 732, 736 (App. Div. 1955).

See § 10:23. *Neighbor's greener pasture lawsuits*, 1 Rathkopf's *The Law of Zoning and Planning* § 10:23 (4th ed.)

It is well within the constitutional power of a municipality to adopt zoning regulations that limit the areas in which certain business uses may be allowed. *Bibco Corp. v. City of Sumter*, 332 S.C. 45, 52, 504 S.E.2d 112, 116 (1998)(excluding mobile homes from some but not all residential districts). Also see *D.G. Rest. Corp. v. City of Myrtle Beach*, 953 F.2d 140, 145 (4th Cir. 1991).

Appellants' claims are commonly known as neighbor's greener pasture lawsuits. See § 10:23. *Neighbor's greener pasture lawsuits*, 1 Rathkopf's *The Law of Zoning and Planning* § 10:23 (4th ed.). Where a community is divided into districts, there will of course be adjacent districts with different permitted and prohibited uses and different nonuse regulations covering bulk, height, density, and type of structure. This is the predicate and the purpose of zoning. *Id.*

The "presumption of validity" and "fairly debatable" rules applicable to legislative enactments were created to provide the necessary protection against those constitutional claims in such situations. *Knowles v. City of Aiken*, 305 S.C. 219, 223, 407 S.E.2d 639, 642 (1991); *Rushing v. City of Greenville*, 265 S.C. 285, 288, 217 S.E.2d 797, 799 (1975); *Hampton v. Richland County*, 292 S.C. 500, 503, 357 S.E.2d 463, 465 (Ct.App.1987), cert. denied, 296 S.C. 72, 370 S.E.2d 714 (1988). The decision of the legislature as to the location of the boundary line will be upheld by courts unless, by reason of the facts and circumstances involved, the existing zoning classification, as applied, is found to be arbitrary and unreasonable or by the absence of any legitimizing

rational basis related to an appropriate public purpose for the zoning. *1 Rathkopf's The Law of Zoning and Planning § 10:23 (4th ed.)*.

For Appellants to successfully maintain a "neighbor's greener pasture" lawsuit, the presumption of validity must be overcome by clear and convincing evidence of the arbitrariness of the zoning classification as applied. Most such lawsuits are unsuccessful.

Id. As early as 1937 the Virginia Supreme Court stated:

It is seldom that there is a definite reason for holding that a lot on one side of a line should be devoted to one purpose and that just across it to another. The adaptability of certain territorial sections of cities to certain uses fade into each other. One end of a field may be, beyond peradventure, suited to industrial developments, the other to private homes. Intervening there must be a twilight zone. If the legislature cannot be relied upon to say where lines must run, who can be vested with that discretion? Demonstrative accuracy is an impossibility. *West Bros. Brick Co. v. City of Alexandria*, 169 Va. 271, 283-84, 192 S.E. 881, 886 (1937).

More recently, in *Fairfax County v. Pyles*, 224 Va.629, 638-639, 300 S.E.2d 79, 84 (1983), the court stated:

...the crux of the issue is whether the zoning boundary has been fairly drawn. Fixing the specific location of boundaries between zoning districts is a legislative function that "is, by nature, more or less arbitrary." *Fairfax County v. Williams*, 216 Va. at 60, 216 S.E.2d at 41. In making that zoning judgment, the governing body must consider, for example, "the general boundary guidelines" set forth in the comprehensive plan, "location of property lines, physical characteristics of the land, and other factors affecting optimum geographical alignment." *Fairfax County v. Snell Corp.*, 214 Va. at 660, 202 S.E.2d at 894, quoted in *Vienna Council v. Kohler*, 218 Va. 966, 974-75, 244 S.E.2d 542, 547 (1978).

Appellants have not proven the boundary lines are arbitrary. The City contends the boundary lines for the OBEOD are fairly drawn. They are based on pedestrian travel patterns, family friendly attractions and historical uses that existed before CBD consumables, drug paraphernalia, and sexually oriented merchandise gained an expanded

presence in the OBEOD. [R201-202] The OBEOD's boundary guidelines adopted by the City were anticipated by the City's 2011 Comprehensive Plan. [R Vol II 543-555]

C. *The OBEOD ordinance does not violate Appellants' 14th Amendment rights.*

Appellants claim the City has taken their property by denying them substantive due process and equal protection of the laws. [App. Br. 10] The City responds that no constitutional right to do business is implicated when the government imposes generally applicable restrictions on business activities pursuant to its police power to promote public health, safety or welfare. *Safeway Inc. v. City & Cty. of San Francisco*, 797 F. Supp. 2d 964 (N.D. Cal. 2011); § 18:14. *Restrictions on business or occupation*, 5 *McQuillin Mun. Corp.* § 18:14 (3d ed.).

The City acknowledges the reasonableness of a zoning regulation of any business depends chiefly on the circumstances on which the regulation operates. No zoning regulation should be allowed to interfere with the enjoyment of individual rights beyond the necessities of the case. *Id.* When it is reasonable to regulate a business or industry in the public interest, the regulation will not be precluded by the fact that the investment made in the business prior to any legislative action will be diminished, or by the fact that the industry has been continued in the locality for a long period, although the regulation requires its removal from the area. *Id.* In other words, the fact that economic hardships may result from the enforcement of an ordinance adopted for the protection of the public health, safety, or welfare does not affect its constitutional validity unless the ordinance is shown to be clearly unreasonable or discriminatory. *Id.*

Legislation designed to promote the general welfare commonly burdens some more than others. See *Hadacheck v. Sebastian*, 239 U.S. 394, 36 S.Ct. 143, 60 L.Ed. 348

(1915) (law barring operation of brick mill in residential area); *Miller v. Schoene*, 276 U.S. 272, 48 S.Ct. 246, 72 L.Ed. 568 (1928) (order to destroy diseased cedar trees to prevent infection of nearby orchards); *Goldblatt v. Hempstead*, 369 U.S. 590, 82 S.Ct. 987, 8 L.Ed.2d 130 (1962) (law effectively preventing continued operation of quarry in residential area). The businesses were uniquely burdened by the legislation sustained in those cases. Similarly, zoning laws often affect some property owners more severely than others but have not been held to be invalid on that account. For example, the property owner in *Euclid v. Ambler Realty Co.*, 272 U.S. 365, 387–388, 47 S.Ct. 114, 118, 71 L.Ed. 303 (1926) who wished to use its property for industrial purposes was affected far more severely by the ordinance than its neighbors who wished to use their land for residences. See *Penn Cent. Transp. Co. v. City of New York*, 438 U.S. 104, 133, 98 S. Ct. 2646, 2664, 57 L. Ed. 2d 631 (1978).

Appellants are unable to refute the City’s findings that the business uses restricted by the City create an atmosphere that is repulsive to mothers and fathers in the care of their children or that the ordinance promotes to minors crudity and sexually explicit apparel, drug paraphernalia, and consumables that mimic and promote drug and substance consumption. Appellants have not refuted the City’s finding that the displacement of CBD consumables, smoke shops and tobacco stores is necessary to serve its stated purposes and in the interests of the public health, safety and general welfare.

Appellants claim that the City’s ordinance creating the OBEOD violates their rights to equal protection of the laws. Appellants cite the case of *Walgreen Co. v. City & Cty. of San Francisco*, 185 Cal. App. 4th 424, 110 Cal. Rptr. 3d 498 (2010) as authority for their equal protection claim. The City contends that case is distinguishable on its

facts. In *Walgreen*, the City & County of San Francisco enacted an ordinance that prohibited businesses such as Walgreen's that were licensed as pharmacies with accessory sales from selling tobacco products. However, the ordinance exempted from the tobacco prohibition "big box" stores such as Costco or a supermarkets such as Safeway.

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